BYLAWS OF

GEORGIA BAPTIST CONVENTION, INC.

(Replaced Constitution adopted in 1919 and amended thereafter)

Provisionally Adopted on November 14, 2023

Article I. Name and Purpose

- **Section 1. Name.** The name of this corporate body shall be Georgia Baptist Convention, Inc. and may also be referred to as The Baptist Convention of the State of Georgia (hereinafter, the "Convention" or sometimes, the "Corporation"). The Convention is a religious nonprofit corporation formed under the Georgia Nonprofit Corporation Code (the "Georgia Code").
- **Section 2. Organizational Structure.** The Convention is a voluntary association or convention of cooperating Southern Baptist churches growing in grace, strengthening one another in faith and working together in obedience to the teachings and Great Commission of Jesus Christ.
- Section 3. Relationship with the Georgia Baptist Mission Board. The Convention shall serve as the sole member of a separate, religious nonprofit corporation that is exempt under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code and described in Section 170(b)(1)(A)(i), namely "Executive Committee of the Baptist Convention of the State of Georgia" d/b/a "Georgia Baptist Mission Board" (herein, such corporation is referred to as "GBMB"). In its position as sole member of the GBMB, the Convention determines various officers and committee compositions of the GBMB as may be found herein and in the GBMB governing documents. In addition to its other powers, the Convention elects the highest governing body of the GBMB, which is known as its Executive Committee (herein, the "GBMB Executive Committee").

Article II. Affiliation and Membership

Section 1. Affiliates. The affiliated churches of the Corporation are the affiliated Southern Baptist churches that give evidence of belief in Holy Scripture as its authority in matters of faith and practice and are in harmony and agreement with the work and purpose of the Convention (each such member is an "Affiliated Church"). All Affiliated Churches must not subscribe to beliefs or act in ways that are, in the opinion of either the Convention or the GBMB, materially contrary to the Convention's Statement of Faith as it may be amended from time to time by the Convention, which is presently The Baptist Faith and Message 2000.

Section 2. Becoming an Affiliated Church.

(a) Association Path. Each Association recognized pursuant to Article VIII has its own procedures for joining the Association. Once a church has joined the Association and its joinder has been reported to the Convention's recording secretary and the administrative secretary of the GBMB and properly approved by the Convention, then the applicant church shall be recognized as an Affiliated Church unless and until dissolved, disbanded, or formally

disfellowshipped pursuant to Section 3 of this Article.

(b) *GBMB Path*. The GBMB Executive Committee may approve procedures for applicant churches to become an Affiliated Church of the Convention as an at-large member. Once a church has completed the application process, it may be preliminarily approved or rejected by the GBMB Executive Director, with such action being reported to the Convention's recording secretary and the administrative secretary of the GBMB. Preliminarily approved churches shall be forwarded for approval by the Convention. Once approved, then the applicant church shall be recognized as an Affiliated Church unless and until dissolved, disbanded, or formally disfellowshipped pursuant to Section 3 of this Article.

Section 3. Disfellowshipping of an Affiliated Church.

- (a) By the Convention. The Convention can determine, by vote of the registered messengers, that a church does not qualify as an Affiliated Church, as defined in Section 1 of this Article, whereupon such church shall be excluded from the Convention, and all rights and privileges thereof shall be terminated.
- (b) By the GBMB Executive Committee. In addition to disfellowshipping under Section 3(a), above, the GBMB Executive Committee may disfellowship a church whose status as an Affiliated Church has been properly suspended according to Article VII, Section 4(c) (the "Suspended Church"), upon recommendation to disfellowship in writing signed by the GBMB Executive Director, stating the date, time and place of the meeting when such action shall be considered by the GBMB Executive Committee, provided further that (1) the Suspended Church shall be notified in writing at the time such recommendation is made, (2) the Suspended Church shall be entitled to present any additional written materials for the GBMB Executive Committee to consider at least five (5) days prior to the meeting; and (3) the motion to disfellowship is approved by at least a two-thirds (2/3) affirmative vote of the GBMB Executive Committee with a quorum present. For the avoidance of doubt, the provisions of this Section 3 apply in full force to the Cooperating Churches. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any final decision of the GBMB Executive Committee to disfellowship a Suspended Church, despite taking effect on the date specified by such decision, is subject to appeal by the disfellowshipped church at an annual meeting of the Convention held within fifteen (15) months of the decision. The Convention's decision with regard to the appeal shall not be limited in any manner, but if no action is taken in response to an appeal, the decision of the GBMB Executive Committee shall stand and be final.
- Section 4. Registered Messengers and Cooperating Churches. Each Affiliated Church in good standing, having contributed at least \$500 through the GBMB for the Convention's Cooperative Program and has completed during the preceding year the Annual Church Profile (ACP) shall be known as a "Cooperating Church" for the following year and shall be a Member of the Convention. Each Cooperating Church shall be entitled to two (2) registered messengers and to one (1) additional messenger for each \$800 contributed through this Convention for the Convention's Cooperative Program and causes, but in no case shall any Cooperating Church be entitled to more than fifteen (15) registered messengers. In addition, Cooperating Churches may receive such other benefits and/or entitlements as may be determined by the GBMB or the Convention from time to time.
- **Section 5. General Powers.** Members shall have the authority to elect and remove directors and officers of the Corporation, establish Convention's committees and

commissions and elect their respective members. Each registered messenger shall have one (1) vote at the annual meeting of the Convention and at any special meeting.

Article III. Meetings

- **Section 1. Annual Meeting.** The Convention shall meet at least once each year, the time and place to be fixed by the Convention, or otherwise by a majority vote of the GBMB Executive Committee. The dates and places of meetings shall be planned two years in advance.
- **Section 2. Special Meetings.** The Convention may be called into a special meeting by a two-thirds' (2/3) vote of the members of the GBMB Executive Committee. The call for the special meeting shall state the purpose, time, date and place of the meeting. The meeting shall be held no sooner than twenty-one (21) days or later than sixty (60) days after action of the GBMB Executive Committee to call the meeting. Notice of the purpose, time, date and place for the special meeting shall be published on the website of the Georgia Baptist Mission Board for no fewer than two (2) weeks immediately prior to the date of the special meeting. The special meeting shall be limited to the purpose stated in the notice by the GBMB Executive Committee.
- **Section 3. Quorum.** The quorum for the annual meetings or special meetings shall be ten percent (10%) of the registered messengers.
- **Section 4. Participation by Remote Means.** Unless expressly approved by resolution of the GBMB Executive Committee for a particular year, participation at any annual or special meeting shall be in person, and no messenger who is not physically present at such meeting may vote.
- **Section 5. Vote by Proxy.** Voting by proxy is not permitted at meetings of the Convention, or at meetings of any committee or ancillary body thereof.

Article IV. Powers

- **Section 1.** The Convention shall never attempt to exercise authority over any Affiliated Church but shall always recognize and uphold each Affiliated Church's autonomy under Christ. Any Affiliated Church may cease fellowship with or membership within the Convention at any time.
- **Section 2.** Funds donated to the Convention shall be received by or granted to the GBMB for the work of GBMB and its agencies, and the GBMB shall dispense such funds according to applicable law, and it shall fulfill any and all legal restrictions applicable to donor gifts.

Article V. Board of Directors

Section 1. Number and Election. The Board of Directors shall consist of not fewer than one (1) and of not more than five (5) members. Directors shall be elected by a

two-thirds' (2/3) vote of the registered messengers at the annual meeting of the Convention. The President of the Convention, as elected at the annual meeting of the Corporation, shall be a director of the Corporation, and unless changed by a resolution of the messengers at the annual meeting, the President shall be the sole director of the Corporation.

- **Section 2. Contingent Provisions.** If, for any reason, the President is unable to serve as director of the Corporation and no other director remains, then the First Vice President shall serve as sole director. If the First Vice President is unable to serve as director, then the Second Vice President shall serve as sole director.
- **Section 3.** Qualifications. Each director must be a registered messenger and an active member in good standing of a Cooperating Church. Such person must affirm and adhere to the Statement of Faith of the Convention. If, subsequent to election, a director ceases to be a member of any Cooperating Church in good standing, or refuses to affirm and adhere to the Statement of Faith of the Convention, then such person forfeits his remaining term of service and shall be ineligible to serve as director or officer.
- **Section 4. Terms.** The term of the President or acting President as director is coterminous with his term as President or acting President. If other directors are elected by the registered messengers, then unless otherwise stated, the term shall be one (1) year. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the terms of directors ordinarily shall expire at the later of completion of the annual meeting of the Convention or the election of their respective successors. A decrease in the number of directors does not shorten an incumbent director's term. A director elected to fill a vacancy shall be elected for the unexpired term of his predecessor in office.
- **Section 5. Removal.** A director may be removed by a three-quarters' (3/4) vote of messengers present at the special meeting of the Convention after proper notice to the director of his potential removal.
- **Section 6. Resignation.** A director may resign at any time by communicating such resignation to the Convention's recording secretary or the administrative secretary of the GBMB. The resignation is effective when communicated unless the notice specifies a later effective date or subsequent event upon which it will become effective.
- Section 7. Action Without a Meeting. (a) Any action required or permitted to be taken at a meeting of the Board of Directors may be taken without a meeting if a consent in writing, setting forth the action so taken, is signed by all directors. Such consent shall have the same force and effect as a unanimous vote at a meeting duly called. For such purposes, any director who has a conflict of interest (as determined by majority vote of the remaining directors) or who recuses himself from consideration, due to a conflict of interest or otherwise, shall not be counted, such that a unanimous consent of all non-recused and nonconflicted directors shall constitute unanimous written consent. (b) Such written consents may be delivered by facsimile, U.S. Mail, DocuSign or other electronic signature, scanned email (PDF with physical signature), or other physical delivery method or similar electronic means. (c) More specifically and without limiting the foregoing, (i) electronic voting may take place on any electronic platform to which the Corporation provides access to all directors and on which a record of the resolution and each director's vote is created, and, alternatively, (ii) written consents may be delivered without signature by indicating an affirmative vote regarding a resolution via text, email, or other electronic means, in which case the Secretary

is authorized to sign the consent on behalf of such director or, once sufficient consents have been received, to certify that the resolution was duly passed. (d) Signed consents and/or proof of electronic consent, along with the resolution's text, shall be retained with the corporate records. (e) Action by written consent shall not require a motion or second to be made or recorded. (f) A director's consent may be withdrawn by a revocation signed by the director and delivered to the Corporation prior to delivery to the Corporation of unrevoked written consents signed by all the directors required for an action to be taken. (g) Action taken under this Section 7 is effective when the last required signed consent is delivered to the Corporation, unless the consent specifies a different effective date.

[The following Sections 8-11 only apply if the Board of Directors has more than one director. They shall also apply to any committee of the Convention to the extent not in conflict with other provisions of these Bylaws or bylaws for the respective committee.]

- **Section 8. Notice.** Regular and special meetings of the Board may be held with at least two (2) days' notice at such time and place as shall from time to time be determined by the Board. Unless waived by the Board, notice shall be provided for any meeting where an amendment to the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws or the removal of a director shall be considered. Such notice shall include the proposed amendment, date, time, place, and purpose of the meeting.
- **Section 9.** Waiver. Whenever any notice of the meetings of the Board is required to be given under the provisions of the Articles of Incorporation, these Bylaws, or applicable law, a waiver thereof in writing signed by the person or persons entitled to said notice, whether before or after the time stated therein, shall be deemed equivalent thereto. Attendance at a meeting by a person entitled to notice shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting, except where such person objects at the start of such meeting to the transaction of business because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened.
- **Section 10. Quorum.** A majority of the directors shall be necessary and sufficient to constitute a quorum for the transaction of business, and the act of a majority of the directors present and voting at a duly constituted meeting of the Board shall be the act of the Board of Directors, except as may be otherwise specifically provided by statute or by the Articles of Incorporation or by these Bylaws.
- **Section 11.** Participation by Virtual Means. Members of the Board of Directors or of any committee designated thereby may participate in the meeting of such Board or of such committee by means of a videoconference, telephone or similar communications equipment whereby all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other. Participation by such means shall constitute presence in person at such meeting. When a meeting is conducted by means of a conference telephone or similar communications equipment, a written record shall be made of the action taken at such meeting.

Article VI. Officers

Section 1. Officers. The officers of the Convention shall be President, First and

Second Vice Presidents, Recording Secretary and two (2) Assistant Recording Secretaries, each of whom shall be elected at the Convention's annual meeting by the registered messengers and who shall hold their offices until their successors are elected. The officers shall assume office at the close of the Convention's annual meeting at which they are elected. The vice presidents shall be elected by plurality, without regard to receiving a majority of the total votes, First Vice President being the person receiving the most votes and Second Vice President receiving the second most votes, and all other officers shall be elected by majority. Their duties shall be those usually discharged by such officers. No person shall be nominated and elected as an officer who is not a registered messenger of the Convention at the time of the nomination and election.

- **Section 2. President's Term.** No person shall serve as President more than two (2) years, and thereafter he shall not be eligible for re-election to that office. If the President, for any reason, is unable to complete the term for which he is elected, then the First Vice President shall immediately become President and shall serve for the remainder of the unexpired term. If the First Vice President is unable to serve, then the Second Vice President shall become President.
- **Section 3. President's** *Ex Officio* **Membership.** The President shall serve as an *ex officio*, nonvoting member of all standing and special committees of the Convention.
- **Section 4. President's Appointment Power.** The President shall appoint the Committee on Nominations and the chairman of the committee. Furthermore, the President shall have the appointment powers provided for in Article VII, Section 11 of these Bylaws.

Article VII. Committees, Boards, and Commissions

- **Section 1. GBMB Executive Committee.** As stated in Article I, the Convention is entitled to elect the GBMB Executive Committee, the membership of which shall consist of (a) six (6) ex officio members, (b) one (1) member elected from each cooperating Association, and (c) five (5) members from each of the six (6) state regions (thirty (30) members total from the six regions). Each elected member shall be elected to a five-year (5) term. It is important that at least one-half of the at-large positions (group (c) above) elected annually to serve on the GBMB Executive Committee be laypersons. The President, First Vice President, Second Vice President, Recording Secretary, and the two (2) Assistant Recording Secretaries shall serve as *ex officio* (voting) members of the GBMB Executive Committee. Each GBMB Executive Committee member shall also be a member in good standing of a Cooperating Church.
- Section 2. GBMB Executive Committee Membership Eligibility. No person who is (a) either employed by or compensated under contract with any Convention Institution, whether full-time or part-time, or (b) a member of a governing board of any Convention Institution included in the budget of the GBMB, shall be eligible to serve as a member of the GBMB Executive Committee. For purposes of the preceding sentence, speaking honoraria shall not affect a person's eligibility to serve on the GBMB Executive Committee. No person serving as an elected member of the GBMB Executive Committee shall be eligible for re-election to membership on the GBMB Executive Committee after the expiration of their term of service or after a forfeiture of such service, until such person has been off the membership of the GBMB Executive Committee for at least one (1) year;

provided, however, where a person is elected to replace another member and where the replacement member will serve less than one-half of the original term, such person shall be eligible for re-election to membership on the GBMB Executive Committee.

Section 3. GBMB Executive Committee Vacancy. Any vacancy occurring in an elected position on the GBMB Executive Committee, caused by any reason, shall be filled by the Convention at its next annual meeting.

Section 4. GBMB Executive Committee Authority.

- (a) Standing Authority. The GBMB Executive Committee shall have charge and control of all work, business, and affairs of the Convention not carried out directly by the Convention, including missions, education, and benevolence, in the interim between meetings of the Convention and any action of the GBMB Executive Committee shall be in all matters the action of the Convention and shall be binding upon the Convention unless such action is contrary to the Convention's Statement of Faith or these Bylaws.
- (b) Affiliated Churches. Should matters of concern arise related to the issue of whether a church is or should remain an Affiliated Church from either (i) action of an Association, (ii) action of the GBMB Executive Committee, or (iii) an action of the Convention, the matter shall be referred to the office of the GBMB Executive Director. The GBMB Executive Director, in consultation with the GBMB Administration Committee, shall review the matter, which shall include hearing the concerns of the body that initiated the process and the concerns of the Affiliated Church, and seeking to restore the relationship between such church, Association (if applicable), and the Convention. The GBMB Executive Director shall consult with the President, who shall jointly make a recommendation to the GBMB Administration Committee, which will determine by two-thirds (2/3) affirmative vote with a quorum present either (x) that no further action is needed, whereupon the matter will be closed; or (y) that the Affiliated Church's status will be suspended (in accordance with Section 4(c), below) and the matter should be referred to the Convention or the GBMB Executive Committee for appropriate action.
- (c) Suspension of Affiliated Churches. If the GBMB Executive Director believes that continued affiliation with an Affiliated Church is likely to cause immediate and irreparable harm to the Convention, then he may, in consultation with the President, recommend suspension and provisional disfellowshipping of the Affiliated Church's status to the GBMB Administration Committee until the decision to disfellowship can be brought to the Convention or the GBMB Executive Committee. Though not exhaustive, the reason(s) for suspension must include grave harm, such as refusing to address acts of the church leadership or of the church as a whole constituting apostacy or blasphemy, open defiance of and opposition to the stated biblical beliefs of the Convention, sexual misconduct, embezzlement or clear misappropriation of church funds, bigamy or polygamy, or felonies that also constitute immoral conduct. Upon a two-thirds (2/3) affirmative vote of the Executive Committee with a quorum present, such church's Affiliated Church and/or Cooperating Church status(es), including its membership in good standing within any Association, shall be suspended pending final action by the Convention or the GBMB Executive Committee.
- Section 5. Other GBC Bodies: Required Attendance and Vacancies. Persons serving as members of any governing board, supervisory body, commission or other board

or committee of a Convention Institution, and who do not attend at least fifty percent of the meetings during any year, without being excused from a meeting by the appropriate chairman, shall forfeit their membership on such board, body, commission or committee. Any vacancy occurring due to forfeiture shall be reported to the Executive Committee and the Convention shall follow its regular procedure in electing a person to fill such vacancy with no interim replacements being made.

- Section 6. Other GBC Bodies: Eligibility and Rotation. No person, nor a member of the family of such person (as determined under Internal Revenue Code Section 4958(f)(4), herein "Family Member"), who is employed by any Convention Institution shall be eligible to serve as a voting member of any governing board, supervisory body, commission or other board or committee of such Convention Institution. Except as stated herein or in the GBMB Bylaws to the contrary, no person appointed or elected by the Convention to any governing board, supervisory body, commission or other board or committee of any Convention Institution (herein, an "Elected Position") shall be eligible for re-election to such Elected Position after the expiration of their term of service or after a forfeiture of such service, until such person has been out of such Elected Position for at least one (1) year; provided, however, where a person is elected to replace another member and where the replacement member will serve less than one-half of the original term, such person shall be eligible for re-election to the Elected Position.
- **Section 7.** Audits and Bonds. Each governing body, supervisory body, commission, or other board or committee of any Convention Institution shall have its financial statements prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles accompanied by an audit opinion from a certified public accountant.
- **Section 8.** Committee on Nominations. As stated above, the President shall appoint the Committee on Nominations and its chairman.
- (a) Within (60) sixty days after each annual meeting of the Convention, the President shall appoint fifteen (15) members, at least five (5) of whom shall have served on the immediately previous Committee on Nominations, to serve as a Committee on Nominations to report at the next annual meeting of the Convention. Unless expressly delegated elsewhere herein or in the GBMB bylaws, the Committee on Nominations shall nominate for vote to the Convention all candidates to serve on the committees, boards and commissions of a Convention Institution. Each person nominated to the Convention by the Committee on Nominations shall be an active member in good standing of a Cooperating Church. No person who is nominated by the Committee on Nominations shall serve at the same time on more than one governing board, supervisory body, commission or other board or committee of any Convention Institution. Furthermore, no member of the Committee on Nominations nor any Family Member of such member shall be eligible for nomination by the Committee on Nominations.
- (b) At least ninety (90) days before each annual meeting of the Convention, the Committee on Nominations shall publish on the website of the Georgia Baptist Mission Board the names of the Associations (under Article VIII) from which the GBMB Executive Committee members will be elected at the next meeting of the Convention, and it shall at the same time remind the registered messengers within the fellowship of such Associations that they may offer suggestions to the Committee on Nominations concerning the GBMB Executive Committee members to be elected from within their respective Associations.

- (c) The Committee on Nominations shall make its recommendation to the Convention in the form of a motion to elect those persons it recommends for specific terms of office. The motion may be amended, but no registered messenger shall be allowed to propose more than one (1) person at a time for election. When adopted by the Convention, the motion of the Committee on Nominations, as amended, shall constitute the election of the persons named in the motion to their respective terms of office.
- (d) The report of the Committee on Nominations shall include the name of the Cooperating Church and the Association of each nominee. The report shall be made available to the registered messengers prior to the presentation of the report; however, the Committee on Nominations may make any needed corrections or additions.

Section 9. Committee on Resolutions.

- (a) The Committee on Resolutions, composed of six (6) elected members (eight total), shall be nominated by the Committee on Nominations and elected at the annual meeting of the Convention to serve the following year. The chairman shall be indicated on the report of the Committee on Nominations and, whenever possible, shall be someone who has previously served as a member of the immediately previous Committee on Resolutions. In addition to the elected members, the President of the Convention and the GBMB Executive Director shall be *ex officio* nonvoting members of the Committee on Resolutions.
- (b) The Committee on Resolutions shall prepare and present such resolutions as it deems appropriate for the Convention's consideration. Resolutions may be based upon proposals received by the Committee or may originate with the Committee. Only resolutions recommended by the Committee may be considered by the Convention, except the President of the Convention may, at his discretion, allow the consideration of any other resolution that has been properly submitted under paragraph (c) of this Section 9. Whenever possible, resolutions presented by the Committee on Resolutions for consideration by the Convention shall be available to the registered messengers prior to their presentation.
- (c) Resolutions proposed by the registered messengers must be signed and personally delivered by their authors or their designees to the Recording Secretary, or one of the Assistant Recording Secretaries, by the end of the Monday evening session of the Convention.
- **Section 10. General Supervision.** To the extent not expressly reserved to the Convention or to the President herein or in the Articles of Incorporation, the GBMB Executive Committee shall determine the duties, responsibilities, terms, members, and appointment or election procedures for the members of any Convention governing board, supervisory body, commission or other board or committee.
- **Section 11. Special Committees.** (a) The Convention may create a special committee for a specific or special purpose by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of the messengers. The members of any such committee shall be named by the President of the Convention unless otherwise specified by the Convention. (b) In addition to the Convention's power to create special committees, the President may also create and appoint the members of one or more special committees in order to accomplish one or more specific tasks. (c) After any such committee completes its authorized task(s), it shall automatically cease to exist. (d) Notwithstanding the foregoing, any special committee expressly authorized herein shall comply with any relevant Bylaws provision regarding its creation, composition, or otherwise.

Section 12. *Ex Officio* **Status of Executive Director.** The GBMB Executive Director shall serve as an *ex officio* nonvoting member on all standing and special committees of the Convention.

Section 13. Membership in a Cooperating Church.

- (a) Any person elected by the Convention to the GBMB Executive Committee, or to a board, commission or committee, or as an officer, or to any other position shall be an active member in good standing of a Cooperating Church. Such person shall affirm and adhere to the Statement of Faith of the Convention. In addition, any person elected to the GBMB Executive Committee as a representative of a cooperating Association shall be an active member of a Cooperating Church that is a part of such Association.
- (b) If a person ceases to be a member of a Cooperating Church, loses good standing, or refuses to affirm and adhere to the Statement of Faith of the Convention, or if such person ceases to be a representative of an Association or ceases to be a member of a Cooperating Church in that Association, then such person forfeits their remaining term of service and the position becomes vacant; provided, however, a representative of an Association, upon written request from the Association and approval of the GBMB Executive Director, may remain in the position until the next annual meeting of the Convention when the successor representative will be elected. Any vacancy occurring as a result of this section shall be filled by the Convention at its next annual meeting.

Section 14. Out-of-State Members on Governing Boards.

- (a) This Section 14 applies only to the following Convention Institutions: Baptist Village, Inc.; Brewton-Parker College, Inc.; Georgia Baptist Children's Homes and Family Ministries, Inc.; Georgia Baptist Foundation, Inc.; Georgia Baptist Retirement Communities of Georgia, Inc.; Shorter University, Inc.; and Truett-McConnell University, Inc.
- (b) Convention Institutions identified in subsection (a) of this Section 14 shall be allowed to have persons serve on their governing board from outside of the State of Georgia who are not members of a Cooperating Church, provided that: (i) the board shall not have more than ten percent (10%) of its total membership from out-of-state; (ii) any person on the board from out-of-state shall be an active member in good standing of a church in cooperation and in good standing with a sister association or convention of churches of another state; and (iii) any person on the board from out-of-state shall affirm and adhere to the Statement of Faith of the Convention. Should any out-of-state person serving on a board not meet the requirements of (ii) or (iii) above, then such person forfeits their remaining term of service, and the position becomes vacant.
- (c) Any other provision in these Bylaws that requires a person serving on a governing board to be a member of a Cooperating Church shall not apply to out-of-state members of the Convention Institutions identified in subsection (a) of this Section 14.

Article VIII. Recognition of Associations for Representation on The GBMB Executive Committee.

Section 1. Definition of Association. An "Association" shall be a self-governing fellowship of Affiliated Churches, recognized by the GBMB and sharing a

common faith, active on mission in their setting, and occupying a geographic area or an affinity relationship of effective ministry which is both reasonable and discernible.

- **Section 2. Minimum Membership.** Each Association shall consist of a minimum of eight (8) Cooperating Churches.
- **Section 3. Application Process.** Each new Association shall submit an application provided by the office of the GBMB Executive Director, which shall require the new Association to state the reasons for the recognition of such Association for representation on the GBMB Executive Committee. All applications must be submitted at least six (6) months prior to the next annual meeting of the Convention.
- **Section 4. Special Committee.** All applications shall be reviewed by a special committee composed of the President of the Convention, chairman of the GBMB Executive Committee, chairman of the GBMB's Administration Committee, and the president of the Associational Missionaries Fellowship. The GBMB Executive Director and one staff member, appointed by the GBMB Executive Director, shall serve as *ex officio* nonvoting members of this special committee.
- **Section 5. Review and Approval.** The GBMB Executive Committee shall review the recommendation of the special committee and recommend approval of the application to the Convention or refer the application back to the special committee for further review. All applicant associations shall be recognized for representation on the GBMB Executive Committee upon favorable action by the Convention at its annual meeting.
- Dissolution of Association; Merger of Associations. Section 6. Association recognized by the Convention may vote to dissolve or to merge with another Association in accordance with its (or each Association's) own governing documents. If the governing documents for any Association does not provide a process for dissolution or merger, then such action may be approved by a majority vote of a quorum of the Association's governing body, at a meeting held (in person or by virtual or telephonic means) with a proper quorum and where the agenda item of a possible merger and/or dissolution has been properly noticed. The results of any affirmative vote to dissolve shall be communicated to the GBMB Executive Director within five (5) business days, along with a plan of dissolution and one or more persons responsible for winding up the affairs of the Association. The results of any affirmative votes to merge two or more Associations shall be communicated to the GBMB Executive Director within five (5) business days of the last Association to approve it, along with a plan of merger approved by each Association and a person from each Association responsible for carrying out the merger. No merger shall proceed until each participating Association properly approves the plan of merger.

Article IX. Convention Institutions

- **Section 1. Definition**. A "Convention Institution" is any organization, whether a corporation, legal association, agency, or other entity with a separate governing board, whose governing board is elected by the Convention.
- **Section 2. Discontinuance of Relationship.** The relationship between the Convention and a Convention Institution shall not be discontinued without a majority vote on such action at two consecutive meetings of the Convention, unless the governing board

of the Convention Institution and the GBMB Executive Committee concur in such matter; whereupon, action shall be effective at a single meeting of the Convention, provided further that a notice of the discontinuance of the relationship of a Convention Institution of the Convention shall have been published on the website of the Georgia Baptist Mission Board at least forty-five (45) days prior to the meeting of the Convention at which such vote is taken.

Article X. Indemnification

- **Section 1.** Required Indemnification of Officers and Directors. To the fullest extent permitted by law, and in accordance with Georgia Code § 14-3-859, which is incorporated by reference herein, the corporation shall indemnify its present and former directors and officers, and shall advance funds to pay for and reimburse their expenses as contemplated under the aforementioned section of the Georgia Code.
- **Section 2. Indemnification of Employees, and Agents.** The corporation may indemnify and advance expenses as contemplated under Georgia Code § 14-3-857 to an employee or agent by Board of Directors resolution to the extent allowed by applicable law.
- **Section 3. Heir and Estate Indemnification.** The indemnification provided hereunder shall inure to the benefit of the heirs, executors and administrators of persons entitled to indemnification hereunder. The right of indemnification under this Article X shall be in addition to and not exclusive of all other rights to which any person may be entitled.
- **Section 4. Insurance.** The corporation may, but is not required to, purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of one or more directors, officers, employees, or agents against liability, whether or not the corporation would have the power to indemnify them against the same liability.
- **Section 5. Conflicting Interest Transactions.** The validity and ramifications of conflicting interest transactions are governed by the Georgia Code and Internal Revenue Code.

Article XI. Amendments to Governing Documents

Section 1. The Convention's Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws may only be amended as follows:

- 1. A motion to amend may be made in writing at the annual meeting of the Convention by any registered messenger, and upon the Convention's vote to consider such amendment, the proposed amendment shall be submitted to the Convention for action at its next annual meeting; or
- 2. A proposed amendment may be recommended by the GBMB Executive Committee in which case it will be submitted directly to the Convention for action.
- **Section 2.** A proposed amendment submitted to the Convention for action must

be published on the website of the Georgia Baptist Mission Board at least thirty (30) days before the meeting of the Convention and such amendment must be approved by two-thirds (2/3) of the registered messengers present and voting.

Article XII. Parliamentary Authority

Section 1. The rules contained in the current edition of *Robert's Rules of Order Newly Revised* shall govern the meetings of the Convention in all cases to which they are applicable and in which they are not inconsistent with the Convention's Bylaws and any special rules of order the Convention may adopt.